STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Richland County  
Honorable Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge  
Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

MAR 05 2018

SC Court of Appeals

---

Opinion No. 2017-UP-440 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Nov. 22, 2017)  
COA Appellate Case No. 2016-000475

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RICHARD A. CAPELL,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000246

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**QUESTION PRESENTED**

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming Petitioner's conviction where Petitioner was immune from prosecution for pointing or presenting a firearm pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 12, 2015, the Richland County Grand Jury true-billed an indictment against Petitioner Richard Capell for pointing or presenting a firearm in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-410. R. 280. The charges arose from an incident on February 16, 2015, between Capell and John Bunucci, the manager of the condominium complex where Capell owns a unit and resided.

On January 13, 2016, Capell's attorney filed a notice and motion for immunity from prosecution pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(c). R. 1; R. 2. Defense counsel also filed a written memorandum in support of immunity. R. 3. On January 19, 2016, Capell appeared before the Honorable Clifton B. Newman for an immunity hearing. Capell was represented by Sarah Jurick and Maisie Osteen, and the state was represented by assistant solicitors John Conrad and Joe Berry. R. 11. Judge Newman heard testimony from Capell, Capell's mother Susan Mitchell, and the alleged victim John Bunucci. R. 12. Additionally, Judge Newman reviewed a video of the incident captured by a make-shift "body camera" worn by the Capell. R. 28, ll. 1-19; R. 45, l. 15 – 47, l. 10; State's Ex. 1 (on file with this Court). Judge Newman ruled that Capell was not immune from prosecution. R. 77, l. 6 – 78, l. 13

On January 25-26, 2016, Capell appeared for trial before the Honorable Robert E. Hood and a jury. R. 82. The jury returned a verdict of guilty. R. 270, l. 18 – 271, l. 16. On February 19, 2016, Judge Hood sentenced Capell to five years suspended upon the service of three years, followed by five years on probation. R. 277, l. 23 – 278, l. 23; R. 282. The sentencing sheet further provides that Capell "is not allowed to possess any firearm" by South Carolina and federal law. R. 282.

Following a timely notice of appeal, Capell's direct appeal was perfected by the filing of the brief of appellate by undersigned counsel. The State filed its Brief of Respondent. On November 22, 2017, the Court of Appeals filed an unpublished, per curiam opinion affirming Capell's convictions. App. 1. Capell filed a petition for rehearing, which was denied by an Order filed on January 18, 2018. App. 3; App. 18.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

**The Court of Appeals erred in affirming Petitioner’s conviction where Petitioner was immune from prosecution for pointing or presenting a firearm pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act.**

## INTRODUCTION

This case is about the application of the Protection of Persons and Property Act (“the Act”), colloquially known as the “stand-your-ground law,” to persons charged with pointing or presenting a firearm. The General Assembly expressly set forth its intent for the Act in section 16-11-420:

(A) It is the intent of the General Assembly to codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person’s home is his castle and to extend the doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person’s place of business.

(B) The General Assembly finds that **it is proper for law-abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others.**

(C) The General Assembly finds that **Section 20, Article I of the South Carolina Constitution guarantees the right of the people to bear arms, and this right shall not be infringed.**

(D) The General Assembly finds that persons residing in or visiting this State have a right to expect to remain unmolested and safe within their homes, businesses, and vehicles.

(E) The General Assembly finds that no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, **nor should a person or victim be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack.**

S.C. Code Ann. 16-11-420 (emphasis added); see also U.S. Const. amend. II; D.C. v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 595 (2008) (holding that the Second Amendment conferred an individual right to keep and bear arms); McDonald v. City of Chicago, 561 U.S. 742 (2010) (holding that the Second Amendment right to keep and bear arms is fully applicable to the States by virtue of Fourteenth Amendment). The statute prohibiting the pointing or presenting of a loaded or unloaded firearm at another person further provides: “This section must not be construed to

abridge the right of self-defense or to apply to theatricals or like performances.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-410.

Capell was born with multiple birth defects that have affected him into adulthood and rendered him disabled. R. 14, l. 7 – 22, l. 4. Due to the increased risks associated with a physical attack, Capell was licensed to carry a concealed weapon and did so on a regular basis. R. 8; R. 23, ll. 9-16. On the afternoon of February 6, 2015, Petitioner Capell had a verbal dispute with John Bunucci, the manager of the Point Arcadia condominium complex where Capell owned a unit and resided. Capell left Bunucci’s office in the clubhouse building after slamming his hand on the desk, telling Bunucci that he would see him in court and slamming the office door. Bunucci, who was eight inches taller and outweighed Capell by at least one hundred pounds, then swung the office door open, rushed toward Capell, and yelled “Are you threatening me? ‘Cause if you’re threatening me, I’ll fucking have your shit down.” R. 3; R. 23, l. 17 – 25, l. 15; R. 26, l. 22 – 27, l. 25; R. 28, l. 20 – 36, l. 3; State’s Ex. 1 (on file with this Court).

Capell drew his handgun. He did not pull the trigger on his firearm because its display, coupled with his order to “get the fuck back,” were successful in dispelling the threat. R. 25, ll. 4-25; R. 31, l. 13 – 33, l. 15; R. 35, l. 8 – 36, l. 3. Though Capell did not see any weapon in Bunucci’s hand and did not know him to carry a weapon, he noted how quickly the distance between them could have been closed and that one’s bare hands can be a weapon. R. 34, l. 12 – 36, l. 16; R. 38, l. 11 – 39, l. 2. All of these events were captured on an audio and video recording that Capell provided to police. R. 28, ll. 1-19; R. 40, ll. 18-25; State’s Ex. 1. At the immunity hearing, Judge Newman properly found that Capell was not engaged in unlawful activity. However, the remainder of his findings were not supported by the evidence or applicable precedent. R. 77, l. 9 – 78, l. 13. As will be discussed more fully *infra*, Capell should

have been found immune from prosecution under section 16-11-440(C) of the Act because Capell established all of the elements required by the Act and a valid case of self-defense.<sup>1</sup>

### REASONS TO GRANT CERTIORARI

This Court should grant certiorari pursuant to Rule 242, SCACR. Since its codification in 2006, this Court has spent considerable time interpreting and clarifying the scope and application of the Protection of Persons and Property Act and reconciling it with existing precedent regarding the Castle Doctrine and self-defense. However, this Court has yet to address how to apply the Act to a pointing or presenting case. Here, the Court of Appeals properly rejected the State's contention that the Act was wholly inapplicable in such cases because immunity required the exercise of "deadly" force. See Respondent's Br., pp. 7-9; Appellant's Reply Br., pp. 1-5. However, the Court's opinion affirming Capell's conviction implied that a physical attack was necessary to qualify for immunity and ignored the body of case law regarding the right to act on appearances. App. 2. The Court further misunderstood how the objective and subjective reasonableness of Capell's fear both factor into an immunity analysis. App. 2. Additionally, the immunity judge in this case failed to recognize the applicability of self-defense law to the determination of immunity, an error of law completely ignored in the Court of Appeal's opinion. App. 2.

Unlike other cases where the witness testimony "varied substantially" or where "the accused presented various inconsistent accounts" of the events that were "not consistent" with the victim's injuries, the events in this case were captured by the make-shift body camera Capell was wearing. See State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 318-19, 768 S.E.2d 232, 239 (Ct. App. 2014),

---

<sup>1</sup> A complete recitation of the relevant facts is included in the final brief of appellant, on file with this Court. Appellant's Br., pp. 4-12.

*cert. dismissed as improvidently granted* (July 13, 2016) (distinguishing the facts of the case from those of State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013), and State v. Butler, 407 S.C. 376, 755 S.E.2d 457 (2014)). Thus, this case presents an opportunity to clarify several matters related to immunity not only applicable to Capell's pointing and presenting case, but also applicable to future cases where varying degrees of force are utilized in standing one's ground.

### DISCUSSION

The Act provides that a person has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if (1) he was not engaged in an unlawful activity; (2) he was attacked in another place where he had a right to be; and (3) he reasonably believed the use of force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). "Great bodily injury" is statutorily defined as "bodily injury which creates a substantial risk of death or which causes serious, permanent disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-430(2).

In State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 371, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013), this Court ruled: "Consistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant's entitlement to the Act's immunity. This includes all elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat." Thus, Capell was required to show by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) he actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; and (3) a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. See Curry, 406 S.C. at 371 n. 4, 752 S.E.2d at 266 n. 4; see also Douglas, 411 S.C. at 318, 768 S.E.2d at 238-39.

**A. Petitioner established the elements required under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C).**

Subsection (c) of the Act requires that the accused show (1) he was not engaged in an unlawful activity; (2) he was attacked in another place where he had a right to be; and (3) he reasonably believed the use of force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). The cases cited in the Court of Appeals' opinion focused upon the Act's requirements that the accused have been attacked and the objective nature of the standard for evaluating whether an accused had a reasonable belief that the force exerted was necessary to prevent great bodily injury. App. 2. There was no dispute in this case that Capell was not engaged in an unlawful activity. R. 59, l. 14 – 60, l. 8; R. 66, ll. 18-21; R. 77, ll. 9-14; Appellant's Br., pp. 12-13.

**i. Meaning of “Attacked” and Applicability of Right to “Act on Appearances”**

The Court of Appeals' opinion cited State v. Scott, 420 S.C. 108, 114, 800 S.E.2d 793, 796 (Ct. App. 2017), *cert. granted* (S.C. Sup. Ct. Feb. 1, 2018), for the proposition that “the clear language of section 16-11-440(C) requires the defendant to be attacked.” In Scott, the Court of Appeals distinguished between whether a reasonable belief of death or serious bodily injury existed so as to justify a claim of self-defense and whether there was an “attack” so as to excuse the duty to retreat under the Act. 420 S.C. at 114-15, 800 S.E.2d at 796-97. In a footnote, the Scott Court went on to provide:

We agree with the concurrence that a defendant must establish the elements of self-defense in order to prevail on a claim for immunity. The clear language of section 16-11-440(C), however, also requires that the defendant be actually attacked. *See Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (“Where the statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.”). While we acknowledge the facts of this case are unique, and the question of a perceived threat and an attack may sometimes overlap, absent a showing that a defendant has been attacked, a request

for immunity, pursuant to subsection (C), which would excuse the duty to retreat, must fail, and a defendant must present his evidence of self-defense to a jury.

Id. at 115 n. 8, 800 S.E.2d at 797 n. 8.

To the extent that Scott construes the Act to require that the accused have been *physically* attacked, such is inconsistent with both the plain language of the statutory text itself and the plain and ordinary meaning of the word “attack.” The word “attack” was not defined in Section 16-11-430 which provided the definitions for words in the Act. Nor was “attack” defined in any other section of the statute from 16-11-410 through 16-11-450. The Merriam-Webster Dictionary defines “attack” as “to set upon or work against forcefully; to assail with unfriendly or bitter words; to begin to affect or to act on injuriously; to set to work on.” *Definition of Attack*, Merriam-Webster Dictionary, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/attack> (last visited Mar. 3, 2018). Thus, to require that the accused have been *physically* attacked would read into the statute a word that is markedly absent from the Act. Admittedly, words alone would likely not be enough to constitute an “attack” for the purposes of immunity or to present a valid claim of self-defense. See State v. Locklair, 341 S.C. 352, 361, 535 S.E.2d 420, 424 (2000) (“[W]ords alone, no matter how opprobrious, are not sufficient to prove legal provocation when a deadly weapon is used.”). However, “words accompanied by hostile acts may, according to circumstances, not only reduce a killing from murder to manslaughter, but may establish the plea of self-defense.” State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 444, 377 S.E.2d 328, 331 (1989) (quoting State v. Harvey, 220 S.C. 506, 68 S.E.2d 409 (1951)).

To the extent that Scott implies that the self-defense concept of the right to “act on appearances” is inapplicable to the elements required to establish immunity, its analysis is flawed. “A defendant, in a self-defense case, has the right to act on appearances.” State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 443, 377 S.E.2d 328, 331 (1989). “The right to act on appearances is not

limited to the situation where the defendant testifies he mistakenly thought he saw a weapon in the victim's hand. While an appearance charge is appropriate when the defendant erroneously believes he sees the victim with a weapon, it has been applied elsewhere." State v. Starnes, 340 S.C. 312, 321, 531 S.E.2d 907, 912 (2000). Further, "[o]nce the right to fire in self-defense arises, a defendant is not required to wait until his adversary is on equal terms or until he has fired or aimed his weapon in order to act." Id. at 322, 531 S.E.2d at 913 (citing State v. Hendrix, 270 S.C. 653, 244 S.E.2d 503 (1978)). "Similarly, the accused doesn't have to wait until his assailant gets the drop on him, he has the right to act under the law of self-preservation and prevent his assailant [from] getting the drop on him." Id. (citing State v. Rash, 182 S.C. 42, 50, 188 S.E. 435, 438 (1936)). "[I]f it is apparent, or reasonably apparent his assailant is taking steps to get the drop on him, he must take steps first to prevent such assailant from getting the drop on him." Rash, 182 S.C. at 42, 188 S.E. at 438.

It is unreasonable to believe that the General Assembly meant for a person to wait until he was physically attacked to defend himself in order to be immune from prosecution, as the first blow could be fatal. "All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that the legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute." State v. Baucom, 340 S.C. 339, 342, 531 S.E.2d 922, 923 (2000). "The Legislature explicitly codified the Castle Doctrine when it promulgated the Act and extended its protection, when applicable, to include an occupied vehicle and a person's place of business." State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 291, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016). "Courts will reject a statutory interpretation which would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not have been intended by the Legislature or would defeat the plain legislative intention." State v. Sweat, 386 S.C. 339, 351, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010).

Here, the purpose of the Act is to allow the accused to “prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime” where it is reasonably believed to be necessary. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). Thus, it is logical that the accused would potentially exercise force to repel the attack before any physical contact – from fist, knife, bullet, or otherwise – was actually made with him or another person.

In this case, though Bunucci never made physical contact with Capell, the video of the incident reflected the quick change in Bunucci’s tone and demeanor. He stormed out of his office toward Capell, yelling: “Are you threatening me? ‘Cause if you’re threatening me, I’ll fucking have your shit down” while taking several large steps and rapidly decreasing the distance between them. Capell had never seen Bunucci so enraged. Bunucci was not a small man, outweighing Capell by at least one hundred pounds and standing eight inches taller. R. 30, l. 16 – 31, l. 3; R. 3 (noting that Capell weighed one-hundred fifty pounds). Capell further explained:

I chose to do what I did because of the short distance between us. You don’t sit there when somebody is holding a knife in their hands at 10 feet away from you and think that, oh, it’s just a knife, it’s not gonna harm me. They can close that distance and stab you before you can blink your eye.

R. 25, ll. 1-7. Capell appeared to be referring to “the twenty-one foot rule,” a standard that “is based on studies which have shown that an armed individual within twenty-one feet of an officer still has time to get to the officer and stab and fatally wound the officer even if the officer has his weapon brandished and is prepared to or has fired a shot.” Sigman v. Town of Chapel Hill, 161 F.3d 782, 785 (4th Cir. 1998). Though Capell did not see a weapon in Bunucci’s hand, he aptly noted that Bunucci’s bare hands could have been used as a weapon. See State v. Bennett, 328 S.C. 251, 262, 493 S.E.2d 845, 851 (1997) (finding that “a hand or fist may be considered a deadly weapon depending on the factual circumstances”). Capell was not required to wait for Bunucci to punch him in the head or gut before pulling his weapon in self-defense. Once

Bunicci saw the gun and stopped advancing upon Capell, Capell acted reasonably in holstering his weapon and leaving. To the extent that the immunity judge and the Court of Appeals found that Bunucci was required to strike Capell in order for Capell to be immune pursuant to the Act, such a finding is an error of law.

**ii. Reasonableness of Belief**

The Court of Appeals cited State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 320 n.7, 768 S.E.2d 232, 239-40 n.7 (Ct. App. 2014), for the proposition that “the standard [under the Act] for evaluating whether an accused had a reasonable belief that deadly force was necessary to prevent great bodily harm to himself is objective, rather than subjective.” In Douglas, it was undisputed that both Douglas and the deceased, Smith, had been drinking alcohol heavily throughout the day leading up to the fatal incident. 411 S.C. at 313, 768 S.E.2d at 236. Noting that Douglas’ intoxication was generally relevant but that the “reasonable belief” required under the Act was an objective standard, the Douglas Court ruled: “The circuit court implicitly found that a reasonable, sober person facing the circumstances Respondent faced would have believed shooting Smith was necessary to prevent great bodily harm to himself and, thus, Respondent’s belief that deadly force was necessary was reasonable.” Id. at 320 n.7, 328, 768 S.E.2d at 239-40 n.7, 244.

In the present case, there was some discussion of Capell’s specific physical disabilities because it was both generally relevant to the case and specifically relevant to establish a valid a claim of self-defense. See Douglas, 411 S.C. at 318, 768 S.E.2d at 238 (reiterating that “immunity under the Act is predicated on an accused demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by the preponderance of the evidence, save the duty to retreat”); id. (to satisfy the second element of self-defense, “the defendant must have actually

believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger”). Capell was born a twin, with multiple birth defects. His abdomen was exposed in the front and he had severe bilateral club feet, with his toes up against the calves of each leg. Despite a series of procedures to close the abdominal area at age ten, Capell continued to have problems and mesh was used to cover the abdominal wall. Over the years, the mesh began to erode and Capell suffered a series of hernias. R. 14, l. 7 – 15, l. 24; R. 17, ll. 1-7. A few years prior to the hearing, doctors determined that he needed a total abdominal wall reconstruction which had not yet been performed. R. 15, l. 24 – 16, l. 5; R. 19, l. 8 – 20, l. 15. Capell also suffered from lung problems, bone loss, and arthritis. R. 16, l. 8 – 17, l. 7; R. 17, ll. 8-23. As a result, Capell had to be very careful about lifting and carrying things or getting in a position where he would have a direct blow to his abdomen. R. 18, ll. 17-24.

For purposes of the Act, Capell was also required to show that he “reasonably believed” that the force exerted was “necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). Relatedly, the third element of self-defense requires that the accused prove “if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief.” 411 S.C. at 318, 768 S.E.2d at 238. These both require the application of an objective standard of reasonableness. In denying Capell’s claim of immunity, the immunity judge found that there was “nothing in the contact . . . that demonstrates any reasonable action by the defendant and any basis for having any belief that he needed to use death, great bodily injury or pull a weapon on the victim.” R. 77, l. 24 – 78, l. 4.

It is important to note that the force exerted in the present case was the pointing and presenting of a firearm, which Capell holstered when Bunucci stopped advancing upon him. The

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