STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Richland County  
Court of General Sessions

**RECEIVED**

APR 02 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge  
The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2017-UP-440 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 11/22/17)  
Appellate Case No. 2018-000246

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

RICHARD A. CAPELL,

PETITIONER.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 102259

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DANIEL E. JOHNSON

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

## ARGUMENT

**The Court of Appeals correctly found the trial judge properly denied Petitioner's motion for immunity under the South Carolina Protection of Persons and Property Act.**

Petitioner contends the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial judge's ruling that he was not immune from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act.<sup>2</sup> Petitioner asserts he established all required elements of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 (C). Petitioner further avers he established a valid case of self-defense. Both of Petitioner's claims lack merit. Petitioner's misdeeds conclusively fail to qualify for immunity pursuant to the Act where Petitioner did not use deadly force as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450, nor did he establish the required elements under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 (C). Further, Petitioner was not properly acting in self-defense where he unreasonably pulled a firearm on Bunucci during a verbal altercation Petitioner instigated.

### **Protection of Persons and Property Act**

"The cardinal rule of statutory construction is a court must ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature." State v. Scott, 351 S.C. 584, 588, 571 S.E.2d 700, 702 (2002) (citing Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. State Budget and Control Bd., 313 S.C. 1, 437 S.E.2d 6 (1993))

All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the maxim that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used. A statute's language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute. Whenever possible, legislative intent should be found in the plain language of the statute itself.

---

<sup>2</sup> In his Petition, in a section entitled "Reasons to Grant Certiorari," Petitioner asserts, "Here, the Court of Appeals properly rejected the State's contention that the Act was wholly inapplicable in such cases because immunity required the exercise of 'deadly' force." Pet. for Writ of Certiorari p. 7. Petitioner further argues, "However, the Court's opinion affirming Capell's conviction implied that a physical attack was necessary to qualify for immunity and ignored the body of case law regarding the right to act on appearance." Pet. for Writ of Certiorari p. 7. These arguments by Petitioner represent a great deal of wishful thinking on his part concerning the content of the Court's opinion. The Court issued an unpublished *per curiam* opinion pursuant to Rule 220(b), SCACR, that included no substantive analysis; instead, the Court offered general citations to the relevant authorities. Petitioner's attempts to impute meaning to the Court's opinion and insert his own substantive analysis of the issue in place of the Court's in order to support an allegation of error should be accorded the minimal weight it deserves.

State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007) (internal citations omitted).

“The legislature’s intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute. Words must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction which limits or expands the statute’s operation.” State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 693, 583 S.E.2d 437, 446 (Ct. App. 2003) (internal citation omitted).

The Act provides: “It is the intent of the General Assembly to codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person’s home is his castle...” S.C. Code Ann. § 16–11–420(A) (Supp. 2011). The Act also states, “the General Assembly finds that it is proper for law-abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16–11–420(B) (Supp. 2011).

The Act further provides:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, . . . , his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) (Supp. 2011) (emphasis added). The Act contains a definition of deadly force, defining it as force “that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A) (Supp. 2011). The Act defines great bodily injury: “‘Great bodily injury’ means bodily injury which creates a substantial risk of death or which causes serious, permanent disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-430(2) (Supp. 2011).

The immunity provision at issue provides:

A) A person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law is justified in using deadly force and is immune from criminal prosecution and civil action for the use of deadly force, unless the person against whom deadly force was used is a law enforcement officer....

S.C. Code Ann. § 16–11–450 (Supp. 2011).

This Court considered the immunity provision in State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011). This Court concluded: “We agree with the circuit court that the legislature intended defendants be shielded from trial if they use deadly force as outlined under the Act. Immunity under the Act is therefore a bar to prosecution and, upon motion of either party, must be decided prior to trial.” Id. at 410, 709 S.E.2d at 665 (emphasis added).

A clear reading of the immunity provision indicates it only applies when an individual uses deadly force as authorized by the Act. In this case, Petitioner pointed his firearm at Bunucci’s chest. The simple act of pointing a firearm is not an act that is “intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person.” Without Petitioner completing an overt action, i.e., actually firing the weapon, there was no exertion of deadly force. Pointing a weapon at someone could invariably lead to the use of deadly force, however the mere act of pointing and presenting in itself does not constitute the use of deadly force. As a result, Petitioner’s conduct does not entitle him to immunity even if he did otherwise act in accordance with Section 16-11-440(C).

Additionally, even if this Court overlooks the fact that Petitioner does not qualify for immunity when he did not use deadly force, this Court had previously determined the defendant has the burden of proving his entitlement to immunity. This Court has held: “when a party raises the question of statutory immunity prior to trial, the proper standard for the circuit court to use in determining immunity under the Act is a preponderance of the evidence.” Duncan, 392 S.C. at

411, 709 S.E.2d at 665. As noted above, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C), a person has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if (1) he was not engaged in an unlawful activity; (2) he was attacked in another place where he had a right to be, and (3) he reasonably believed the use of force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself. There is considerable evidence to support the trial judge's finding Petitioner was never faced with any force, was not attacked in a place he had a rightful place to be, and could not reasonably believe the use of force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself. First, Petitioner was never faced with any force whatsoever; therefore he had no right to meet "force with force." Petitioner initiated a verbal altercation with Bunucci and when Bunucci followed Petitioner to continue the verbal altercation, Petitioner needlessly pulled a pistol and pointed it at Bunucci. Rather than meeting "force with force," Petitioner met words with force. Second, and similarly, Petitioner was never "attacked." While Petitioner did have a right to be in the clubhouse, Bunucci was simply continuing the verbal confrontation Petitioner started. At no point was Petitioner "attacked." Finally, as noted by the trial judge, nothing in Petitioner's actions approaches reasonable behavior. Petitioner started a verbal confrontation, threatened Bunucci, and slammed Bunucci's office door. When Bunucci followed Petitioner to continue discussing the matter, Petitioner pulled a gun on him. Bunucci was walking towards Petitioner and had his hands by his side. There is absolutely no credible evidence to support the assertion Petitioner reasonably believed the use of force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself. Petitioner, thus, completely failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that he satisfied the requisite elements to qualify for immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act. Petitioner's

action of pulling a gun on a man with whom he was arguing is certainly not the type of conduct the legislature meant to protect in codifying the Act.

### **Self Defense**

Petitioner also contends he established a valid case of self-defense because he was not at fault in bringing on the difficulty, he believed he was in imminent danger of sustaining serious bodily injury, and a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. To the contrary, the State disproved at least three of the elements of self-defense. When a defendant claims self-defense, the State is required to disprove the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 544–45, 500 S.E.2d 489, 492–93 (1998). “It is an axiomatic principle of law that the defense has not been established if any one element is disproven.” State v. Williams, 400 S.C. 308, 315, 733 S.E.2d 605, 609 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 554, 698 S.E.2d 572, 586 (2010)). To establish self-defense in South Carolina, four elements must be present: (1) the defendant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) a reasonable, prudent person of ordinary fitness and courage would have entertained the same belief; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury other than to act as he did. State v. Santiago, 370 S.C. 153, 634 S.E.2d 23 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing Jackson v. State, 355 S.C. 568, 570-71, 586 S.E.2d 562, 562 (2003); State v. Day, 341 S.C. 410, 416, 535 S.E.2d 431, 434 (2000)).

In Petitioner’s case, the State demonstrated an absence of three of the four elements. First, the State showed Petitioner was at fault in bringing about the difficulty. Petitioner went to Bunucci’s office with a phone with video capabilities strapped to his chest to confront Bunucci

about the issue regarding Petitioner's dog. Petitioner swung open the door without knocking and asked Bunucci "what are you criminals up to today." Petitioner then harassed Bunucci, imploring him to "confess" and threatening police and judicial intervention in the event that he did not. After threatening Bunucci, Petitioner slammed the door to his office. When Bunucci exited the office to continue the verbal confrontation started by Petitioner, he found a gun pointed at his chest. Petitioner was thus at fault in bringing about the situation that ended in him drawing his weapon on a man who was just arguing with him.

Second, the State also demonstrated a reasonable prudent person of ordinary fitness and courage would not believe he was in danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury. The facts demonstrated that Petitioner and Bunucci were engaged in a verbal disagreement. Petitioner threatened Bunucci, telling him he would see him in court, before slamming the door. When Bunucci left his office to continue the conversation with Petitioner, he was walking with his hands by his side. No reasonable person would believe someone walking towards them during a verbal altercation could result in serious bodily injury.

Finally, since the Protection of Persons and Property Act did not apply in Petitioner's case, it did not eliminate Petitioner's responsibility to retreat or seek other means of avoiding the danger. Petitioner's action of telling Bunucci he would see him in court and then slamming the door did not constitute a "retreat." Instead, Petitioner's parting threat and forceful slam of the door was an effort to instigate Bunucci and continue the verbal confrontation. Once Bunucci left his office to respond to Petitioner's threats, Petitioner was seemingly waiting for him with a gun pointed to his chest. Had Petitioner continued walking instead of pointing a gun at Bunucci's chest while telling him to "get the fuck back," he could have avoided any potential danger. However, Petitioner continued to provoke Bunucci, therefore giving him an occasion to use the

gun he long bragged about carrying. Accordingly, the State disproved multiple elements of self-defense.

### CONCLUSION